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atory, LP v. DG in PB, LLC et al Doc

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE: OUTLAW LABORATORIES, LP| Case No0.:18CV840 GPC (BGS)
LITIGATION,
ORDER DENYING TAULER
SMITH’'S MOTION TO COMPEL
COMPLIANCE WITH SUBPOENAS

[ECF 5]

l. INTRODUCTION

Third-party defendant Tauler Smith LLP (“Tauler Smith”) has filed a Motion tc
Compel Compliance with Subpoenas. (ECF 255.) The Subpoenaed'Paniesiled a
Joint Opposition and Counter Motion to Quash and Tauler Smith has filed a Reply
support of its Motion. (ECF 259, 263).)

1 The Joint Opposition identifies it as being filed on behalf of Trepco Imports and
Distribution, Ltd. (dba Kennedy Wholesale and Trepco El Cajon Cash and,Ggrag
Mansour aka Jeff Mansour, Wail Al Paulus, Wiam Paulus, Margart Paulus, Domini
Arabo, and Steven A. Elia, Esq. (incorrectly identified as Stephen Elia) of the Elia

Firm, APC the “Subpoenaed Parties” and San Diego Cash & Carry. (ECF 259 at 1.

2 All citations to the Joint Statement are to the CM/ECF electronic pagination.
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For the reasons set forth below, the Motion to CongdeENIED.
.  BACKGROUND

A. Claims in Consolidated Action

The Courthassummarizedhe claims,counterclaimsandthird-party claimsof this
consolidatedactionin detailin numerougrior orderson discoverydisputes.The Court
incorporateshosesummaries herandonly briefly summarizeshecasehere (ECF177
atl.; ECF215atll.; ECF230atll.; ECF246atll; ECF265atll.)

This consolidated action encompasses two cases brought by Qabavatory,
LP against retail storegCase Nos. 18cv840[@G in PB”) and 18cv1882 (SD Outlet”).)
Three storedRoma MikhaNMRM, Inc., and Skyline Market, Inc. (collectively the

“Stores”)have filed counterclaims as a class action on behalf of themselves and ot

targeted stores against Outlaw and its former counsel, Tauler, Bndr the Racketeer

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICQO”) along with a rescission claim.
(“Second Amended Counter Claims (“SACC”) [ECF 114].)

Outlaw’s claimsnverepremised on the defendastbresselling “maleenhancement
pills, . . . ‘the Enhancement Products™ with packagmdjcating they weraall natural,
but allegedlycontainingundisclosed drugs with Outlaw claiming it lost out on sales G

productsto those products. (ECF 147 at 16;3ECF 209 $an Diego Ouitlet action))
Summary Judgment was granted to defendants iD@ PB action and a motion for
judgment on the pleadings and subsequent motion for reconsideration in the San [
Outlet action were granted dismissing with prejudice all of Outlaw’s claims. (EGF !
209, 251)

The Storegounterclaims under RIC@re teing brought on behalf of a class of
similarly situated stores. (ECF 114.) The SACC alleges Outlaw, Tauler Smith, ang
Outlaw’s principles, Michael Wear and Shawn Lynch, have engaged in a scheme t
includessending demand letters to small businessdghheaten the store could be hel
liable for over $100,000 based on false and misleading statements about potential
for the sale of certain products by the stores. (SACC {9 2, BB.82The SACC allege
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Outlaw employs “investigators,” some hired by Outlaw’s counsel Tauler Smith, whq
identify stores selling the products, take pictures of storefronts and shelves in the s
with the products and provide that information to others participating in the scheme
target these stores. (SACC 11 66, 73, 86, 92.) The SACC alleges that Outlaw ang
attorneys then send the demand letters that falsely indicate Outlaw sells a compet
product, TriSteel, in retail stores through the United States and that the store is ille
selling products in violation of RICO and the Lanham Act. (SACC 1%$,22324, 26
52, 6668, 8486, 88, 92.) Theemand letters also allegedly include pictures taken o
receipts for purchase of the products by investigators. (SACC 1Y 68, 73, 91.)-Holl
communications then offer to settle for increasingly lower amounts, including as lo
$2,500. (SACC 11-8, 56, 72, 87, 98.)
[ll. DISCUSSION

A. Parties Positions

Tauler Smith seeks to compel compliance with the subppkoagver, Tauler
Smith never explains in its Motion what it seeks in the subpoenas. It very briefly
indicates it “must obtain documents and testiyi to establish the Subpoenaed Partie
role in the sale of the(SUBJECT PRODUCTS.” (ECF 258bat 3.) Although not
entirely clear, it appears Tauler Smith is arguing it is seeking evidence that Trepco
engaged in a RICO conspiracy with stores that are selling Trepco’s products and t
conspiracy is a defense for Tauler Smith in this calskat(4.) Tauler Smith also argus
sales of the subject products may show sales to the stores continued after the stor|
received the demand letters. This, Tauler Smith asserts, would mean the stared s
no damagespresumably from lost sales. Tauler Smith also asserts it has not been
obtain this information from the Store&d.j Tauler Smith cites the Stores’ response t
Request for Production of Documents (“RFP”), Exhibit H, and asserts it indicates tf
Stores have claimed they have no responsive documedis.Téuler Smith asserts the

information it seeks can easily be generditenh “spin reports” and transaction history
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can be run, although as to transaction history at stores, it only indicates transactiof
recorded when scanned at the cash registdrat(5 n.4.) There is no explanation whe
that information is compiled or how it would be extracted.

As discussed in more detail below, the Subpoenaed Parties oppose theftdoti
numerous reasond hey argue the information and documents sought are not relevz:
are subject toteorney-client privilege, should have been obtained from the parties in
case rather than the nparties subpoenagsomewere not properly servednd some
are unenforceable as to certain subpoenaed parties for violating Rule 454600
requirement (ECF 259 at @8 (no relevance),-8 (should have been obtained from
parties), 1612 (attorneyclient privilege), 1213 (service)14 (beyond 100 miles).)
Additionally, they argue Tauler Smith has attempted to circumvent the untimelines
this Motion intwo respects. First, Tauler Smitissuedsubpoenas in May that were
originally issued in March 2020 and objected to in April 262€estart the time to raise
the exact same disputdd.(at 23, 45, 14) Secondeven as to the second set of
subpoensg, Tauler Smith raisethis disputea second time, thirty days after the first tim
it was raisedto avoid its untimeliness(ld. at3-5, 14-16.)

B. Analysis

The Court begingith thetwo issuesTauler Smith andhe Subpoenaed Parties
both, at least in paraddressn their briefing (1) whether the discovery sought it relev
and (2) whether Tauler Smith could have obtained this discovery from a party in th
rather tharburdeningnon-parties. Because the Court finds the soudisicovery is not
relevant and some of it could have been obtained from the parties in this case, the
need not reach the additional issues of seamtewhether that challenge was waived
untimelinessy Tauler Smith, and whether the discovery sought it subject to attorne
client privilege. The Court also notes that there may be other issues weubpoenas
or responsethat have not been raised in the briefing. However, the Court is not go
create argumentsr the Subpoenaed Parties or Tauler Smith that they have not mag

themselves.
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“T’he scope of discovery through a subpoena under Rule 45 is the same as t
scope of discovery permitted under Rule 26(bhtermarine, LLC v.
Bevrachtingskantoor, B.V., 123 F.Supp.3d 1215, 1217 (N.D. Cal(045); see also Fed.
R. Civ. P.26(b)(1) (describing the scope of discoverly) this respect, parties cannot
obtain discovery through a Rule 45 subpoena that is not within the scope of Rule 2
and (2). “A party or lawyer responsible for issuing aetving a subpoena therefore
must take reasonable steps to avoid imposing undue burden or expense on a perg
subject to the subpoendd. (citing Fed.R. Civ. P. 45¢)(1)).

“An evaluation of undue burden requires the court to weigh the burden to the

stbpoenaed party against the value of the information to the serving party and, in
particular, requires the court to considersuch factors as relevance, the need of the
party for the documents, the breadth of the document request, the time perieadl dyvs
it, the particularity with which the documents are described and the burden impose
Moon v. SCP Pool Corp., 232 F.R.D. 633, 637 (C.[al.2005)(quotingTravelers
Indem. Co. v. Metro. Lifelns. Co., 228 F.R.D. 111, 113 (Conn.2005)

In determining whether a subpoena imposes an undue burden, the Court
evaluate whether the discovery sought through a Rule 45 subpoenaonpaaty is
available from garty in the case.See e.g. Moon, 232 F.R.D.at 638 (finding subpoen;
imposedundue burden because discovery sought could be obtained from a party
case) (citingDart Indus. Co., Inc. v. Westwood Chem. Co., 649 F.2d 646, 649 (O
Cir.1980)andHaworth, Inc. v. Herman Miller, Inc., 998 F.2d 975, 978 (FeQir. 1993)
(emphasis added). Cburts are particularly reluctant to require a -+painty to provide
discovery that can be produced by a parttini Innovation Corp. v. McFerran Home
Furnishings, Inc.,, 300 F.R.D. 406, 410 (C.D. Cal. 2014):[N]Jonparties subject t

discovery requests deserve extra protection from the codrgemarine, 123 F. Supp.

3d at 121819 (“[T]he Court noteghat the Ninth Circuit has long held that nonpar
subject to discovery requests deserve extra protection from the do(qgtsting High
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Tech Med. Instrumentation, Inc. v. New Image Indus., Inc.,, 161 F.R.D. 86, 88

(N.D.Cal.1995).

Rule 26(b)(1) provides that “[p]arties may obtain discovery regarding any
privileged matter that is relevant to any party’s claim or defense and proportidghal
needs of the case, considering the importance of the issues at stake in the actiaurih
In controversy, the parties’ relative access to relevant information, the parties’ res
the importance of the discovery in resolving the issues, apthehthe burden or expen
of the proposed discovery outweighs its likely benefit.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1). “D
courts have broad discretion in controlling discovery” and “in determining relevg
Laub v. Horbaczewski, 331 F.R.D. 516, 521 (C.D. Cal. 2019) (citiHgllett v. Morgan,
296 F.3d 732, 751 (9th Cir. 2002yd Surfvivor Media, Inc. v. Survivor Prods., 406 F.3d
625, 635 (9th Cir. 2005)). Rule 26(b)(2) also requires the court, on motion or on it
to limit the frequency or extent of discovery otherwise allowed by the rules if it deter
that (1) “the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative, or can be
from some other source that is more convenient, less burdensome, or less/eXp@)
“the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity to obtain the informat
discovery in the action;” or (3) “the proposed discovery is outside the peopetted by
Rule 26(b)(1).” Fed. RCiv. P. 26(b)(2)(C)(H(iii).

Tauler Smith provides no explanation or description of what it seeks in the
subpoenas and the Subpoenaed Parties simply describe them as seeking “busine
of the Subpoenaed Parties for the ‘SUBJECT PRODUCTSECF 259 at 7.)The
Court’s own review of them indicates thegeka broad range of records for a feqgar
period regarding more than 20 products. (ECF253or example,ite records sought
encompasall documents and any communications between the subpoenaed party

anyone else regarding the products, includialg@sof the products, documents showing

3 As to Tauler Smith this is not a result of the Court’s page limit. The Court alloweq
pages of briefing and Tauler Smith’s Motion is only four pages.
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gross profitdfrom them, documents showing all SKU numbers, every supplier of the|
products, and all communications with every supplier.

Although a bit unclear, it appears Tauler Smith is arguing tinaeids this
discovery to establish the Subpoenaed Parties have been engaged in a RICO con
with the Stores to sell these productfauler Smith claims, witho@xplanation or
citation to any authority that this would constitute a “complete defertbe tcase.”
(ECF 2551 at 4.) Tauler Smith argues that if the Subpoenaed Parties “have in fact
engaged in a RICO offense, then it cannot also be true that [Tauler Smith’s] sendir
demand letters contained false allegations as the Stores allege.” (ECF 264 at 4.)

However, the Subpoenaed Parties accurately point out that these records ar
relevant because they would not show what Outlaw and Tauler Smith knew when |
sent the demand letter$o succeed on a RICO claim:

a plaintiff must prove (1¢onduct, (2) of an enterprise, (3) through a
pattern, (4) of racketeering activity (known as “predicate acts”), (5)
causing injury to the plaintifé “business or property” by the conduct
constituting the violationSee Living Designs, Inc. v. E.I. Dupont de
Numours & Co., 431 F.3d 353, 361 (9th Cir. 2005).

One type of predicate act of racketeering activity recognized by
RICO, 18 U.S.C. 8961(1) is mail fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1341. A
mail fraud violation consists of (1) the formation of a scheme or
artifice to defraud; (2) use of the United States mails or causing a use
of the United States mail in furtherance of the scheme; and (3)
specific intent to deceive or defraligke Schreiber Distrib. Co. v.

Serv-Well Furniture Co., Inc., 806 F.2d 1393, 1400 (9th Cir. 1986);
Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & Indem. Co., 553 U.S. 639, 647, 128 S. Ct.
2131, 170 L.Ed.2d 1012 (2008) (“Mail fraud occurs whenever a
person, “having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice
to defraud,” uses the mail “for the purpose of executing such scheme
or artifice or attempting so to do.” (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1341)).

InreQutlaw, LP Litig., 352 F. Supp. 3d 992, 1000 (S.D. Cal. 20I8)e requirement of
specific intent under this statute is satisfigd'ihe existence of a scheme which was
‘reasonably calculated to deceive persons of ordinary prudence and comprehemgic

this intention is shown by examining the scheme itselfiited Satesv. Green, 745 F.2d
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1205, 1207 (9th Cir. 1984) (quotitnited Sates v. Bohonus, 628 F.2d 1167, 1172 (9th
Cir. 1980)). The conduct of the stores that received letters asserting they¥a0euD®H
in liability for RICO and LanharAct violations, is not an element of the RICO claim
against Tauler Smith. The elente of the claim focus on tle®nduct of the scheme
itself, not those it targeted by the scheme. Even when the Court looks to the partic
facts of this case, at best, it appears Tauler Smitkiing to make its baseless threats ¢
RICO and Lanhan Act liability less baseless after the fact. Essentially, it seeks to by
nonparties with overbroad subpoenas in hopes of finding out its baseless threats W
actually true. Not only is it a fishing expedition, but it is one that the Court is not
convined would have any relevance. Even if there were some conspiracy to sell t
products, Tauler Smith did not know that when it was sending demand letters.

Tauler Smith also argues the discovery sought may show that sales of the st
products to th&tores continued after tigores received the demand letters and this
could mean th&tores suffered no damages. Again, this argument is not explained
detail, but it appears Tauler Smith is arguing that if the Stores continued to sell the
productsdespite the letters thegceived then they did not suffer damages in lost sale
from pulling products from their shelves as alleged in the SACC. (SACC-35.83

At the outset, to be cleahisinformation about stores beyond Roma Mikha,
NMRM, Inc.,and Skyline Market, Inc., it is untimely. Class discovery in this case ¢
on March 17, 2020, almost two months prior to the reissued subpaesedherethat
were issued on May 12, 2026nd more than a week before these subpoenas were f
issued on March 26, 2020. However, even limited to the three Stuess,discovery
requests are vastly overbroad in seeking this information for ayéaurperiod when the
only time that sales could be remotely relevant would be immediately after the den
letter was received and the products removed from the shelves for thBlbsen if
narrowed, records showing the Stores purchased these products from the Subpoe
Parties would not showhether they were sold in the individual stores or pulled from

shelves after receiving a demand letter. Additionally, the Subpoenaed partiegindig
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that they do not havieformation on the Stores’ sales. Given this is the only informa|
that could possibly be relevant to the Stores’ lost sales danthgesformation would
have to be obtained from the Stores themselves.

This is another reason Tauler Smith cannot obtain this discovery from the
Subpoenaed Parties. It should have obtained this discovery from the parties in thi
On this point, the Court must first addrdssiler Smith’sepresentatioto thisCourt on
this issue. Tauler Smith states “[rlegarding the ability to obtain the records from th
Stores, however, they have stateattio records exist.” (ECF 285at 4.) The Motion
then quotes its RFP seeking any documents and communications relating to the S
purchase of the subject productsd.)( Then Tauler Smith states “[tjhe Stores respon(
that they had no responsigecuments. A copy of the Stores’ Responses is enclose(
Exhibit H.” (Id.) However, as th8ubpoenaed Partipsint out in Opposition, that
statemenwasnot accuratevhenmade. By the time Tauler Smith filed tition and
these representations wenade, the Stores had not only provided an amended resp
to this RFP indicating that they would provide responsive documents, they had als
already made invoices available andsé invoicefiad been copied. (ECF 259 at 9
(citing Decl.of Mark Poe 1B-4, Ex. A.) In Reply, Tauler Smith does mxplain this
apparentnisrepresentatioto the Courtbut instead complains that the records it rece
from the Stores were not useful because the “Stores did not prepare any Treqiso reg
for copying beforband” (ECF 264 at 5.) Although not entirely clear, it appears that
documents were likely provided “as they are kept in the usual course of business”
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 34(b)(2)(E)(i).

Second, TauleBmith’s dissatisfaction with this production does not mean it cg
not obtain this discovery from parties in this case. Tauler Smith has or could have
deposeaill the Stores and questioned them about whether they removed any prodt
from the shelves tdetermine whether they actually lost sales in response to the der,
letters. It is na necessary to burden nonparties with responding to subpoenas for

information on individual stores’ sales of its products.
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IV. CONCLUSION

The Court finds the subpoenas are overbroad and seek discovery that is eith
relevant or could have been obtained from the parties in this case. Accordingly, T:
Smith request to compel ti8ibpoenaefarties to comply with the subpoenas is
DENIED. Because the Court denies the motion for these reasons, the Court need
reach the Subpoenaed Part@dditional arguments regarding improper seryvice
untimeliness of this Motigrandattorneyclient privilege

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: October 22, 2020 W

ﬁorT. Bernard G. Skomal\
United States Magistrate Judge
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